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THE Lancashire Congregational Union was formed on 23 
September 1806. It was a product of the Evangelical revival. 

Rev. William Roby, formerly pastor of a Countess of Huntingdon 
Chapel in Wigan, became minister of Cannon Street Independent 
Church, Manchester, in 1795. With a passion for evangelism, 
he privately opened a ministerial academy, in which he trained 
students to undertake itinerant preaching tours throughout 
Lancashire, on the Wesleyan pattern. He was not alone in this, 
for already Congregationalist preachers were being sent to work 
in the county from Heckmondwike Academy in Yorkshire. Some 
of these co-operated with Roby in 1801 to found an Itinerant 
Society, but there being no Congregational organisation in the 
region with which the venture could be associated, the experiment 
failed, and the Lancashire Congregational Union was created 
to correct the deficiency. The purpose of the Union was to 
encourage Independent congregations to unite in 'the intro­ 
duction and spread of the Gospel, according to the Congrega­ 
tional order, especially in the most populous parts of the county.' 
In this it undoubtedly succeeded. When the Union came into 
being there were 38 Congregationalist churches in Lancashire: by 
1846 there were 114, of which 37 were in receipt of financial aid 
totalling £i,3oo.1

The problems of organisation thus multiplied. The root of the 
difficulty lay in the fact that the Union was administered, through 
its committees, by voluntary workers, ministers and laymen who 
alike were already busy and successful men. Consequently, 
whereas Roby had been able personally to superintend his 
evangelists, now the extensive operations of the Union meant that 
its officers were reduced to taking essentially routine decisions, 
generally confined to the responsible allocation of funds. The
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success of the Congregational body had proved its undoing; the 
spirit of evangelism had perforce to submit to the spirit of bureau­ 
cracy. The general committee of church representatives was alive 
to the problem. In 1838, to reduce the growing tendency towards 
depersonalisation, it suggested the appointment of a 'General 
Agent', employed full-time to maintain close contacts with aided 
chapels and their evangelists. This proposal was not implemented. 
Instead six years later, a small executive committee was created 
to undertake, still through voluntary workers, the recommended 
duties of the permanent 'Evangelist Extraordinary.' But the 
compromise proved abortive, and it was the executive committee 
itself, which in 1846 finally chose to appoint 'a suitable person 
to fill the office of a "Visiting Secretary." ' 2

The responsibilities of this new official broke down into three 
main parts. Firstly, he was to supervise the administration of the 
Union. Secondly, he was to canvass the churches of the county for 
subscriptions and collections towards Union funds. Thirdly, he 
was to visit as many of the supported mission churches as he could 
each year, both to encourage them and to obtain first-hand 
information about them for the guidance of Union committees. 
Perhaps because to employ a paid officer was a new departure 
for Gongregationalists, the Executive Committee took care to 
ensure it obtained value for money. One of the tasks imposed upon 
the Secretary was that

he keep a journal of all his proceedings for the permanent use of the 
Executive Committee; accompanying it with an [unreserved?] and 
confidential statement, in such s. way as he might think best, of his 
opinions and feelings respecting all matters affecting the interests of the 
Union.

In the event, the appointee misunderstood or confused his 
instructions. While he duly kept a journal, it did not contain 
information material to his own 'proceedings,' but dealt princi­ 
pally with the places he visited. The outcome is fortuitous. Instead 
of a daily diary to satisfy thrifty Nonconformists, there emerged 
a mid-nineteenth-century survey of rural and developing parts 
of Lancashire. 3

II

The author was Rev. David Thompson Carnson (1796-1877). 
The nominee of a special sub-committee, which, with a fulsome 
executive committee, expressed 'the most perfect confidence' in 
him, he accepted the office of secretary on 28 July 1847. After 
'an annual season of relaxation,' he agreed to start work as 
quickly as possible so 'that something efficient in his department
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should be done before the setting in of the winter'. Carnson was 
an admirable appointment. He was the son of a Congregational 
minister at Cummer Trees in Dumfrieshire, but after his mother 
died when he was aged nine, he was brought up by an aunt. The 
influence of parents and relatives must have resulted in an 
evangelical experience of conversion in youth, for after a country 
schooling, he was apprenticed to a tradesman in Carlisle, where 
he joined the Independent church and used his spare time in 
itinerant evangelism chiefly about north Cumberland. In 1817 
he enrolled as the first student at the Blackburn Academy, estab­ 
lished by the Lancashire Congregational Union to train candi­ 
dates for the ministry. After three years of study, and rejecting a 
call to a prosperous Manchester church, he became pastor at 
Fishergate Chapel, Preston, where congregations averaged only 
about 36, where seat-holders numbered some 50, and where the 
church members totalled but 15, two of whom were in the United 
States. His stipend was a little over £70. Carnson soon altered 
the history of this small church. Within four years the chapel 
was inadequate for those who now wanted to attend, and in 1826 
the larger Cannon Street Congregational Chapel was opened. 
Such achievement brought Carnson repute within the county 
Union. For example, from 1822 to 1831, he was secretary of the 
Preston district committee, and in 1841 a plan he proposed 
became the Lancashire Congregational Ministers' Benevolent 
Society. When therefore the executive committee approved his 
appointment as its secretary, David Carnson was closely identified 
with the traditions of the Lancashire Congregational Union. 
Experienced in itinerant preaching, trained in the institution 
created by local Congregationalists to prepare evangelists in the 
Roby style, triumphant in facing the problems of a congregation 
struggling to survive, respected as the minister of a large church, 
he personified the spirit that was supposed to permeate the Union. 
He was ideally the man to reintroduce a personal relationship 
between its administration and those it sought to help. 4

For the next seven years, on behalf of the executive committee, 
Carnson visited as frequently as he could all the churches 
receiving financial aid. What he discovered on each of his almost 
weekly inquisitions he entered in the journal he was ordered to 
keep. And his journal has survived. It was found recently in the 
basement of the Lancashire Congregational Union Offices. It 
is in three volumes, each a leather-bound business book of between 
250 and 300 pages. The first and second volumes are completely 
filled, covering the periods 16 October 1847 to 14 October 1849, 
and 21 October 1849 to 29 May 1853, respectively. In the third 
volume, entries dealing only with the few months between 5 June
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1853 and 22 January 1854, occupy a mere fifty-two pages. At 
the back of each book, Carnson compiled a chronological index 
of all the reports on the preceding pages, and of his activities on 
those Sundays when he did not conduct a visitation." The whole 
is well preserved, and in clear handwriting. Although full of 
detail, the content is repetitious in form. Apart from exceptional 
occasions, when he was called in to arbitrate in a dispute, or to 
conduct special services, Carnson, on every visit to a church, 
recorded facts concerning the congregation, the membership, the 
ministry, the Sunday school, the finances, the day school (if there 
was one), and the degree of Christian zeal. To this basic material, 
he added any information about the locality, or about the 
circumstances of the people, that affected the work of the mission. 
On first visiting a place, he devoted much space to a description 
of the local area, explaining the size of the population, the econo­ 
mic conditions, the principal employment, the amount of religious 
provision, the relations between denominations, and the availa­ 
bility of education. Because of this his first reports were longer 
than later ones, occupying three or four pages, rather than what 
became a standard two pages. Entries following subsequent visits, 
however, possessed the additional factor of attempts to assess the 
progress of the churches. The journal is thus an illuminating 
document on the social history of mid-Victorian Lancashire. 
Because Carnson was so meticulous even weather conditions and 
transport facilities can be examined. Throughout the writer's 
personality and convictions obtrude, chiefly evangelical and anti- 
establishment, adding the extra attraction of character study.

Nonetheless the journal has a major limitation. Carnson 
visited chapels obtaining grants from the Lancashire Congrega­ 
tional Union. This meant that he only reported on undeveloped 
parts of the country (see Figure 5). Aided congregations were to be 
found in three types of place: rural areas where established 
Congregational churches found it difficult to continue in face of a 
declining population or land-owning opposition (Kirkby Lons- 
dale, Garstang, Fleetwood, Preesall, Knowle Green, Wiswell, 
Martin Top, Holden, and Ormskirk, for example); new industrial 
centres where traditional village life was being transformed (Eger- 
ton, Belmont, Accrington, Great Harwood, Bacup, Clitheroe, 
Marsden, Barrowford, Calderbrook, Middleton, Newton-le- 
Willows, Ashton-in-Makerfield, Prescot, and Leyland are cases in 
point); residential areas and recreational resorts where the popula­ 
tion was expanding on the periphery of the conurbations (Sale, 
Stretford, Blackpool, Churchtown, Droylsden may be mentioned 
in this context). To this extent the journal is restricted. But it is 
not unbalanced. Carnson's careful, if terse, records of his


